UNITED
NATIONS E

Economic and Social Distr.

Council GENERAL

E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
1 Decenber 1997

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Sevent eent h session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 40t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 26 Novenmber 1997, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: M. ALSTON
later: M. CGRISSA
(Vi ce- Chai rperson)
CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmittee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session.

GE. 97-19511 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 6) (continued)

Initial report of Azerbaijan (continued) (E 1990/5/Add. 30;
E/ C. 12/ Q AZE. 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the del egation of Azerbaijan took
places at the Conmmittee table.

Article 6. Right to work (continued)

Article 7. The right to just and favourable conditions of work (continued)

2. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan), referring to the Cormittee's concern that

| ar ge- scal e devel opnent of the oil industry m ght pose a threat to other
sectors of the econony, said that the oil industry in Azerbaijan had al ways
been a highly devel oped sector. The recent award of contracts for the

devel opnent of new oilfields was nerely a continuation of that tradition
However, recognizing that rapid growh of the industry and an influx of oi
money might give rise to an oil syndrone, the Governnent had | aunched a mgj or
programe of reform of the social and economic systemin 1995 that had now
stabilized the principal macroeconom c indicators. Over the first nine nonths
of 1997 GNP had grown by 5 per cent, in contrast to the steady decline
experienced in previous years. The decline in industrial production had been
hal ted and a nodest growth of 0.1-0.2 per cent recorded. Inflation, which had
reached 1, 600-1,800 per cent a year in 1994 and 1995 had been elim nated as a
result of the reform neasures

3. In addition, major agrarian refornms had been undertaken as well as
reformof the private sector. That conprehensive endeavour ensured that
devel opnent of the oil industry did not take place at the expense of other

sectors of the econony. The annual budget deficit was currently running at
2-3 per cent of GNP, which conpared favourably with conditions el sewhere in
the world, and was covered not by bank | oans but by concessionary grants from
oil contracts. Many reform progranmes had al so been drawn up in relation to
heal t h, education and cultural activities. Sonme funding for the reformeffort
was being sought fromthe international community, but the oil noney woul d
make it possible for Azerbaijan itself to draw on its own resources for the
purpose. Gowth of the oil sector had thus brought with it stabilization of

t he economi c, social and political situation, had encouraged foreign

i nvestment and pronoted growh in other areas such as the service sector, the
construction industry and agricul ture.

4, No restrictions were placed by the Constitution or by any |abour |aws
and regul ati ons on enpl oynment of wonen in any kind of work. However, wonen
were generally enployed in the non-productive sector, in other words, they
were not enployed in the production of material goods but in the service
sector and in social services, nedicine, education, science and cultura
activities. Since heavy industry nade up a sizeable proportion of the



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 3

productive sector and frequently involved hazardous work, wonen did not
generally seek enploynment there. That had been a beneficial effect on
popul ati on growt h and on the upbringing of children

5. The State Enpl oynent Service had been created under the Act on

Enmpl oyment of the Popul ation of the Azerbaijani Republic adopted on

27 June 1991, which had been prepared in consultation with ILO before adoption
by the legislature, the National Assenmbly. The Service had its head office in
Baku and had regional offices elsewhere. It was funded by neans of compul sory
contributions fromenployers and a 2 per cent deduction from wages, the annua
budget being adopted by the National Assenbly. The funds were used to pay
unenpl oynent benefit, vocational training and retraining for the unenpl oyed,
pronoti on of self-enploynent and entrepreneurial initiatives, provision of
tenporary social work and the Service's operating costs.

6. The nunber of unenployed registered with the State Enpl oyment Service
stood at 37,000, an increase of 22 per cent over the 1996 figure, which in
turn had been 11 per cent above the 1995 figure. The present official figure
represented 12-13 per cent of the workforce. However, there was much hi dden
unenpl oynent in Azerbaijan and the true unenploynment figure was estimted to
lie between 300,000 and 400, 000.

7. The war with Arnenia had |left many peopl e di sabl ed, including

6, 000 young people, thus creating a nmajor problem The CGovernment was
treating the need to provide socially useful work for such persons as a matter
of priority. Under the 1993 Act on the Social Protection of Disabled Persons,
those di sabl ed by war or other causes who were capable of work were assured of
enpl oynment by a system of job quotas to be nmet by enterprises. The job quotas
were regul ated by local authorities through annual agreenents negotiated with
enterprises and organi zations within their jurisdiction. Enterprises and
organi zations failing to observe those quotas were liable to fines.

Consi derabl e work was being done for the vocational rehabilitation of the

di sabled in a nunber of centres. |In addition, there were two centres
providing artificial Iinbs and working with the disabled to enable themto
live a normal life.

8. The m ni rum wage was established by Iaw at 5,500 manats. Under the

maj or econom ¢ reforms in progress, pensions and other social welfare

al l omances were no | onger pegged to the m ni mum wage but were set

i ndependently. Enployers were not pernmitted to pay | ess than the m ninmm
wage and, in current practice, remuneration was generally much higher

The wages paid by organi zati ons operating under the State budget were of the
order of 15,000 manats.

9. There were no restrictions on the enploynment of foreigners in

Azer baijan, apart fromthe usual enbargo on enpl oynment of non-nationals in
such sectors as the police, aviation and the defence industry, and they were
not eligible for election to political office.

10. Speci al nmeasures were being taken for the enploynent of refugees and the
many persons who had been displaced fromrural areas to the cities. Figures
available fromthe State Enpl oynent Service showed that 20,000 refugees had
been found enpl oynent in the past three to four years. Programmes were under



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR 40
page 4

way in several regions in cooperation with a nunber of internationa

organi zati ons, UNDP and the European Union to pronote self-enpl oynent,
vocational retraining and job creation for refugees in or near the areas to
whi ch they had been displaced. Azerbaijan was intending to extend simlar
programmes on its own initiative to other regions.

11. M. AHMED said that, although Committee nenbers were fully satisfied
with the |l egal framework provided under the Constitution and the |law, they

al so needed to know what actually happened in practice - inreal life - in
areas of relevance to the Covenant. He drew attention to a report on
Azer bai jan published by the Wonen's Rights Action Watch, which cl ai med that
Azer baijani conpanies found it nore profitable to invest their capita

abroad and quoted a report by a Baku newspaper that, by May 1997, sone

US$ 749 million had been invested in that way in the Turki sh econony al one and
an even greater ampunt in Western econom es. The report went on to say that
the governnent commitnent to |legislative and sectoral reforns that woul d
foster the devel opment of donmestic small- to medium scale enterprises had not
been honoured, while the people felt that political patronage prevented nuch
trickle-down fromcurrent econom c growth

12. He asked whether any ceiling had been placed on the nunber of foreign
nationals allowed to work in Azerbaijan, since it appeared that considerable
ill-will had been generated by Turki sh-owned construction conpani es and ot her

enterprises that enployed Turkish nationals in skilled positions and hired
Azerbaijanis mainly as unskilled | abourers. He hoped the del egation could
allay the Conmttee's fears that the dollar drain on the econony woul d be
halted and that nore attenti on would be paid to encouraging i nvestnent in the
donestic market and in encouraging entrepreneurial initiative by the
Azer bai j ani popul ati on

13. M. TEXIER, noting the rising trend in unenpl oynent nentioned by the
del egati on, asked what proportion of the popul ation of working age the

of ficial and unofficial unenploynent figures represented. What nmeasures were
being taken to reverse that trend? It was his understandi ng that wonen were
nore severely affected by unenpl oynent than nen and he would |i ke nore
specific information on the subject.

14. The figure of 5,500 nanats had been given as the m ni mum wage, but was
relatively neaningless in the absence of information on the cost of living and
the extent to which it covered the essentials of |ife. How did the m ni num
wage conpare with the current cost of living? Information on the |evel of
pensi ons now that they were no | onger pegged to the m ni mum wage woul d al so be
wel come.

15. M. GADJIEV (Azerbaijan) said it was usual in Azerbaijan, as el sewhere,
for newspapers opposing governnent policy to express their own views. It
shoul d be renmenbered that in the Soviet era there had been problens relating
to crimnal activity, noney |aundering and the flow of capital out of the
country for the purpose of concealing illicit income. However, under present
conditions in Azerbaijan the | evel of outflow of funds nentioned by M. Ahmed
was extrenely unlikely - the suns nentioned were just too high. He doubted
whet her any conpani es were in fact engaging in such practices.



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 5

16. Some 60, 000 foreign nationals were legally enployed in various sectors
of the Azerbaijani econony. There was no objection to foreigners, such as
Turki sh nationals, working in Azerbaijan. However, conpanies in the service
sector enploying Turkish nationals also had Azerbaijanis on their staff. 1In
the oil industry, there was an agreenment between the Government and foreign
conpani es that Azerbaijani nationals would make up 70 per cent of their
wor kf orce. Admittedly, nore needed to be done to encourage Azerbaijanis to
enter the private sector and to develop their entrepreneurial skills, but the
opportunities were often limted by the need for bank | oans and concessi onary
grants.

17. The unenmpl oynent problem was a conpl ex one. The decision to depart from
the former practice of operating a planned econony had led to a situation in
which enterprises faced a shortage of skilled staff and a shortage of products
suppl i ed by other conpanies. That had led to the rise in unenmploynent. In
order to solve their econom c problens, people were actively seeking work in
the private sector and in trade.

18. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan) said that, as stated earlier, the official
nunber of unenpl oyed was 37,000. However, the unofficial estimate cane to
354, 000, or sone 19 per cent of the active popul ation. Unenploynment was

hi gher anobng wonen than anong nen. The m ni rum wage of 5,500 nmanats was
certainly not enough for a person to live on, but everyone in Azerbaijan,
whet her wage-earner, pensioner or welfare benefit recipient, had an inconme
wel |l in excess of the mnimmwage. As a result of the reform process, the
State no | onger regul ated wages, which were determ ned by agreenents reached
by coll ective bargaining at enterprise or sector |level between enployers and
trade unions. Wages and salaries were State regulated only in connection with
organi zati ons and bodi es operating under the State budget, where it was true
t hat wages were |lower than in other sectors of the econony.

19. Pensi ons were no |onger linked to the m ni num wage and in the past few
mont hs had doubl ed from 25,000 to 50,000 nmanats. Receipt of pensions were
guaranteed by the State. A nmjor reformof the pension system would be
introduced in 1998 with a three-tier systemconprising a first |eve
representing the basic State pension, a second |evel representing pension
schenmes for individual workers and a third | evel representing non-State
pensi on schenmes. It was hoped that the reformwould nake the pension sector
nore effective.

Article 8. Trade union rights

20. M. KOUZNETSQV, noting that the Trade Uni on Act of 1994 banned al
political activity on the part of trade unions, asked whether that or any
ot her Azerbaijani |egislation contained a definition of the term*“politica
activity”. Trade union activities to benefit workers could easily be
considered political, especially in periods of instability, which were
characteristic of former Soviet States. What was the nmeaning of the term
“political activity” in Azerbaijani society?

21. M. CEVILLE asked whet her Azerbaijan was drafting a new |l aw protecting
the right to strike and, if so, what the features of its |egislative
provi sions were. The law in force, which had been enacted during the Soviet



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 6

era, prohibited certain categories of workers fromstriking on the grounds
that strikes would have serious and dangerous consequences. What penalties
were applied if those workers struck?

22. M. TEXIER, noting that the right to association had been recognized in
Azerbaijan as recently as 1994, asked whether trade union pluralism genuinely
exi sted in Azerbaijan and what the relations between trade unions were. He
woul d i ke to know whether the collective agreenments had any real weight or

cl out and how they were inplenented.

23. According to paragraph 80 of the initial report (E/ 1990/5/Add.30), the

| aw governing the settlement of |abour disputes stated that a strike was “an
extrene neasure for settling a collective dispute” and that a decision to
strike required the approval of two thirds of the workers concerned. A sinple
majority should be sufficient. The |aw also stipulated that a stri ke was not
permtted if it constituted a threat to the |life and health of persons or

i nvol ved the railways, urban public transport, civil aviation, communications,
t he power industry, the defence industries and continuously operating plants.
Such a provision barred a | arge segnent of industrial activity from going on
stri ke, which was an inportant neans of bringing pressure to bear on

enpl oyers. Furthernore, transport was a crucial strategic sector

24. Al t hough Azerbaijan had ratified |ILO Convention No. 87, in

its 1997 report the ILO Comrittee of Experts, recalling that restrictions

on the right to strike should be limted to public servants exerci sing
authority in the nane of the State or in essential services the interruption
of which woul d endanger the life, safety or health of the popul ation,
requested the Governnment to amend or repeal relevant provisions of the

Penal Code. \What were Azerbaijan's intentions in that regard?

25. M . ADEKUOYE, noting that the Trade Uni on Confederation had existed
during the Soviet era and that many industries were still State-owned with
directors appointed by the State, said he wondered whether that organization
was genui nely autonomous. He would also Iike to know how many trade uni ons
did not belong to the Confederation, how many workers were required in order
to forma new trade union, and whether new unions could energe fromthe ranks
of old ones. It would also be useful to know what |egislation, if any,
governed col |l ective agreenments, whether arbitration decisions were binding,
and whet her parties could appeal such decisions before a court of |aw

26. M. THAPALI A said that the Annual Survey of violations of trade union
rights for 1996 had indicated that the Trade Union Act of 1994 contained a
total ban on the political activities of trade unions. The legislation in
force contained restrictions on the right to participate in collective
actions. It would be useful to know why the Governnment had not yet anended
the relevant legislation to conformwth its international commtnments.

27. M. CEAUSU poi nted out that paragraph 69 of the report stated that the
Trade Union Act of 1994 placed no restrictions on the right to found or join
trade unions. Paragraph 71 said that any citizen 18 years or over who
possessed | egal conpetence could join a trade union, but it made no reference
to the right to forma trade union. A 1996 report of the United States
Department of State asserted that nost | abour unions operated as they had



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 7

under the Soviet system and remai ned hi ghly dependent on the Governnent. Did
sonme link in fact exist between the Trade Uni on Confederation and the unions
active during the Soviet period? Azerbaijani law on the right to strike was

i ndeed outdated and undenocratic. Under that system one third of the workers
could prevent the calling of a strike, and therefore had nore clout than the
other two thirds. He agreed with M. Texier that a sinple majority vote
shoul d be sufficient to determne the will of a group of persons.

28. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked what percentage of Azerbaijani workers
wer e uni oni zed and whet her workers enjoyed the right to join the trade unions
t hey wi shed.

29. M. GADJIEV (Azerbaijan) said that the Trade Union Act contai ned no
direct prohibition on political activity. The report was perhaps poorly
worded: it merely endeavoured to say that political parties should not use
trade unions as a tool for their own ends. The Suprene Court had not defi ned
the concept of political activity as such. He agreed that it was often
difficult to distinguish economic rights frompolitical rights. The

Azer baijani Constitution protected the right to strike within the franmework of
a | abour agreenent and prohibited strikes only by nmenbers of the armed forces.
The list of industries whose workers were not pernmitted to strike did in fact
contravene the existing constitutional provisions. It was true that new

| egi sl ati on was needed.

30. A draft |aw that provided for a different voting systemfor the

settl enment of | abour disputes was likely to be adopted by the Nationa
Assenbly in late 1997 or early 1998. Parties to a dispute could indeed bring
their cases before a court of law. The collective agreenent |egislation in
force, which had been approved by the International Labour Organi zation and
met the terms of Azerbaijan's international commtnents, provided that

di sputes and conpl aints would be settled by the courts.

31. The right to formunions was protected by the Constitution

Approxi mately 80,000 workers bel onged to i ndependent trade unions. Sone trade
uni ons joined the Trade Union Confederation, others did not. Many of
Azerbaijan's trade unions were naturally based on unions that had been active
during the Soviet period. Wile the petroleumand gas industry had a union
that dated back to that tinme and bel onged to the Confederation, workers in the
oi | industry had forned other unions that were independent. There were no
restrictions on the right of citizens to join unions.

32. M. TEXIER said he wondered, first, whether the Suprene Court had rul ed
on the matter of trade union representation. In some countries, France anong
them political elenments had attenpted to infiltrate the | eadership of the
uni ons. Second, he would like to know whet her Azerbaijani unions belonged to
i nternational trade union federations.

33. M. GADJIEV (Azerbaijan) said that trade unions were registered with the
M nistry of Justice. The Supreme Court had reviewed the case of an

i ndependent oil workers' trade union which the Mnistry had refused to

regi ster and had ruled in favour of the union. The independent trade union
movenment was in its infancy and its problens were being resolved on a

case- by-case basis. The phrase “the struggle of workers for their socia



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 8

rights” did not apply solely to the Soviet era; in all eras workers needed to
struggle to protect their rights. Azerbaijani trade unions did participate in
i nternational trade union organizations.

34. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan) said that trade unions were taking part in the
privatization of national industries. A supervisory comr ssion, whose

presi dent was al so the president of the Trade Union Confederation, nonitored
the privatization process.

Article 9. Right to social security

35. M. RIEDEL asked whether, in view of the high rate of inflation, persons
who received only social pensions could Iive on them Azerbaijan had stated
that pensions had recently doubled; did that apply to all pensions, including
social ones? A three-tier pension schene had been nentioned, one tier of
which related to private pensions. The question arose as to what provisions
were made to cover those pensions if the conmpany or enterprise went bankrupt.

36. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN sai d paragraph 82 of the report indicated that wonen
were entitled to pensions at age 55 after 20 years' work and nmen at age 60
after 25 years' work. What happened to those pensions if the years of

enpl oynment fell short of those figures? She would also |ike to know what
meani ng was to be attached to the term“socially useful work”.

37. Par agraph 85 di scussed entitlenent to social pensions, but it was not

cl ear whether the nen and wonen nentioned in the second sentence were

di sabl ed. Paragraph 115, which fell under the matter of article 7, contained
a conplicated schene for providing social pensions to nothers. What was neant
by “mothers who ... reared children until the age of 8”7 It would be usefu
to know how such pensions were inplenmented in practical terms, what the annua
cost was to the Governnent, and what percentage of the population received
such pensions. Azerbaijan should al so describe the problens it had
encountered in providing such pensions.

38. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO said that there was sone inconsistency between
par agraphs 85 and 115. Also, did workers thenselves make contributions to
their pensions? She would |ike further clarification on the many different
categories in paragraph 115, and on nother-heroines in particular; as far as
she was concerned, all nothers were heroines.

39. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan), beginning with the questions about the social
pensions referred to in paragraph 85, said that it was not a question of

i nvalid nothers but nothers thenselves or nothers who had raised invalids.
Soci al pensions in Azerbaijan did not yet ensure a normal way of life for
categories such as disabl ed people, wonen who had rai sed children and

not her - heroi nes. Therefore, the Government granted those categories of the
popul ati on addi ti onal conpensation paynents, for which all pensioners not
wor ki ng, including social pensioners and all disabled persons, were eligible.
VWenever possible, the level of those paynments were increased, thereby hel ping
such persons to get by. The statement that pensions had doubled in 1997

i ncl uded soci al pensions. Private pension funds did not exist as yet.
However, they were planned in the context of a new pension reform which was
to come into force on 1 January 1998. The Social |nsurance Act, adopted by



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 9

Parliament at the beginning of 1997, provided the |egal basis for setting up
such private pension funds. There were now nore than 1,200,000 pensioners in
Azer bai jan, including 100,000 social pensioners. It was a heavy burden borne
by the State budget and the social insurance fund, the latter being financed
by mandatory contributions from enpl oyers, who had to pay some 30 per cent of
wages, and from enpl oyees, 1 per cent of their wages being w thheld for that
purpose. But the reforns envisaged woul d affect both the operation of the
soci al insurance fund and contributions to it. As in other countries, the
trend woul d be for the enployee's contribution to rise and the enployer's
contribution to fall. As to the indexation of social paynents, it had been
poi nted out earlier that periodic adjustnents were made. Social payments were
established by a presidential edict. Adjustments were nade following a review
of the level of social paynents and other kinds of assistance. Wth reference
to paragraph 115, he agreed that all wonen were heroines; the term

not her - heroi ne dated back to the Soviet period and denoted wonmen who

had had 10 children or nore and who received special pension benefits.

40. As for paragraph 17 in the list of issues, social security was financed
by the national budget, 40 per cent of which was allocated for pensions,
conmpensati on paynents and assi stance to the popul ation, and by the socia

i nsurance fund, whose social assistance paynments had reached 1 trillion
manats, the Gross Donestic Product being somewhat higher than 10 trillion
manats. Taken together, the various paynents, although not high, were very

i nportant to the popul ation under the present difficult circunmstances. In
rural areas, when farm | abourers did not earn a regular nmonthly wage, the
annual incone was taken as the basis for calculating pensions. That was the
only way the pension systemdiffered for rural workers.

41. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN, referring to paragraph 82, asked how nmuch support a
worran recei ved when she had not nade contributions | ong enough to be eligible
for a pension and whether the amount was enough to live on

42. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whether there were any disability
pensi ons.

43. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan), replying to the question concerning

par agraph 82, said that persons becane eligible for |abour pensions at a
certain age and after a certain length of service. Azerbaijani |egislation
provi ded for another kind of pension for persons who reached pensi onabl e age
but did not have the requisite Iength of service for a | abour pension

al though it was not as high as the one paid to those eligible for a ful

| abour pension. Mthers who did not qualify for a full pension neverthel ess
recei ved soci al pensions at fixed levels. Social pensions included disability
pensi ons. There was a network of expert medical and social comm ssions which
deci ded on the category of disability, of which there were three, depending on
the degree to which the person concerned was still fit to work.

Article 10. Protection of the famly, nothers and children

44, M. GRISSA, referring to paragraph 105, asked how it was possible for
both parents to bring up their children in the event of a divorce. After all,
presumably the parents no longer lived together. As to paragraph 106,



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 10

concerning the m ni mrum worki ng age for children, how many children no | onger
attended school and were either working or doing odd jobs in the streets? Was
t he phenomenon of street children a problemin Azerbaijan?

45. M. CEVILLE said that the report failed to provide any information on
what the Governnent was doing for the protection of children and adol escents,
despite the fact that Azerbaijan had signed the Convention on the Rights of
the Child. The report contai ned paragraphs nmentioning 15 and 16 as the

m ni mum age for |egal work, yet the general international trend was to do away
with or to avoid work for children and adol escents. How did the Governnent
ensure the protection of the rights of children and adol escents in actua
practice?

46. Azerbaijan's witten replies to the list of issues stated that children
born out of wedl ock enjoyed the sane rights as children born in wedl ock.
However, it further stated that children born out of wedl ock were entered in
the registry of births under the nmother's famly nane. He would be very
surprised if that was also the case for children born in wedl ock.

47. M. ADEKUOYE, referring to the denmpgraphic indicators in the replies to
the Iist of issues, noted that the number of marriages had virtually hal ved
bet ween 1990 and 1996; divorces had fallen even nore steeply. Could the

del egati on of Azerbaijan comment on that striking trend?

48. In view of the large nunbers of internal refugees in the country, were
there any refugee centres? |If so, how many were there and did they neet the
needs of children and fanmlies? Wre children in such centres given schooling
and health care? Did Azerbaijan receive international humanitarian assistance
in that regard?

49. As for the average subsistence wage, according to reports, in

Decenber 1995 the consuner price index for an average fam |y had stood at
221,704 manats. In 1993, the average wage had been very nmuch | ower than that
figure, about 70,000. What were the figures today? If the gap was still as

wi de as in 1995, what means were being enployed by the Government to close it?

50. M. ANTANOVI CH said he would like to | earn nore about adoption, which
had suddenly becone a problemin all CI'S countries. Azerbaijan was in a
speci al situation: according to statistics, there were 1 mllion mgrants for
a total population of less than 10 million. Wat was the scale of the problem
of homel ess children and street children? Wre foreign citizens allowed to
adopt children? Were there cases of children being procured for sexua
purposes? Were there legislative nmeasures to counteract that phenonenon and,
if so, what formdid they take?

51. M. THAPALIA said that, according to information nmade available to

the Committee by an NGO during the war between Azerbaijan and Arnenia

250, 000 children had been forced to | eave their honmeland and thousands of
children had beconme invalids or had |ost their parents. There were sone

20, 000 orphans and abandoned children, many of them honeless. How was the
Government of Azerbaijan tackling that problen? The Conmttee on the Rights
of the Child had urged Azerbaijan to take conprehensive measures to protect
the rights of children and had expressed concern at the insufficient measures




E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 11

and programmes for the protection of the rights of the nost vul nerable
children. Did the Government have any policy to deal with that situation?

52. M. AHMED said that the Comrittee on the Rights of the Child had voiced
concern that there was no conprehensive |egislation protecting the rights of
the child as stipulated by the Convention. Could the del egation of Azerbaijan
comment on that? Secondly, an Azerbaijani organization recently established
to monitor children's rights had reported that, in February 1997, the
Azer bai jani National Assenbly had adopted an anendnent to existing |egislation
on marriage and the famly which had lifted the restriction on adoption by
non-citizens, that there was no cl ear nechanism for adoption, and that, given
the current economic crisis, the easing of adoption conditions had made sone
children vulnerable to the increasing threat of sex trafficking. Could the
del egation confirmthat the National Assenbly had in fact passed such

| egi sl ati on?

53. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN asked what the incidence of donestic violence against
wonen was. What was the status of wonen in the family? Also, what was the
extent of the problemof child I abour? Assumi ng child-Iabour |egislation

exi sted, how was it nonitored? Could the delegation provide information on
the probl em of drug abuse anong children, on child abuse and child
prostitution? One NGO report had raised the problem of adol escents who had to
| eave State orphanages, although they had no place to go. At what age were
they required to | eave? Did the Government nonitor what became of such
persons?

54. M. SADI, echoing M. Ahnmed's concern about the relaxation of

| egi sl ation on the adoption of children, said that he was alarmed not only at
t he di nensi on of sex trafficking, but also at the nove in many Western
countries to adopt children from devel oping countries. Wat was the reason
for Iifting restrictions on adoption by non-citizens? Wre humanitarian
concerns or comercial interests involved? He was concerned in particular
about the phenonenon of children being msused for organ transplants. Opening
the door to adoption by non-citizens neant that foreign elements could use the
children for a multitude of purposes, including prostitution, organ
transplants or sinply to satisfy the needs of childless couples in sone
countries.

55. Political and economic reforms had |led to the disappearance of a
centralized social system signalling that there was no coherent socia
policy. He asked the delegation to comrent on alarm ng NGO reports that
89 per cent of all famlies lived at the poverty level. Was the situation
that bad? |1t appeared that scant attention was being paid to issues of
poverty and child welfare in Azerbaijan.

56. M. Gissa (Vice-Chairperson) took the Chair

57. M. RATTRAY said that he found the report sonewhat deficient in

descri bing protection of, and assistance to, famlies. Like

M's. Bonoan-Dandan, he al so wanted to find out about the preval ence of
donestic violence and to | earn what State assistance there was or what |ega
mechani sm had been devised to protect wonmen and children against violence in
the hone. Were there restraining orders or punishment available for such



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 12

of fences? |If provisions for protection against domestic violence did exist,
he woul d |i ke to know whet her they offered equal protection to men and wonen.
Again, was there any institutional or |egal nechanismto protect children in
the care of the State who m ght be exposed to abuse?

58. M. W MER, speaking on a point of order, suggested that questions should
be posed as succinctly as possible since there was very little tine remaining.

59. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d that she was particularly interested in the
i nci dence of divorce and protection of the famly. All too often, sole
responsibility for the famly and bringing up the children fell to the wonman
and it was inportant for the man to bear his share of domestic obligations.

60. M. GADJIEV (Azerbaijan) said he would reiterate the information in
paragraph 105 to the effect that it was for the courts to decide on the

di ssolution of marriages. Most often it was the nother who nmade deci si ons on
education, since she was usually awarded custody of the children. In
percentage termnms, the nunber of divorces had rermai ned stable. The nunber of
marriages had in fact fallen by half, a reflection of an economic climte in
whi ch young persons were not on a sufficiently firmfinancial footing to nmake
the commitnents that marriage involved.

61. Cases had occurred of forcible renoval of Azerbaijani infants abroad.

He was reluctant to nane the countries that were the nost common destinations,
but he assured the Conmittee that those countries were neither part of the
former Soviet Union nor were they neighbouring countries. State |aw

enf orcenent agencies were sparing no effort to stemthe trafficking in
chi | dren.

62. While there were |legislative neasures to regulate and protect the rights
of children and nothers, there was no conprehensive [aw on children's rights.
Responsibility for the social protection of children lay with the Mnistry of
Youth Affairs and a special governnment conmi ssion established for that

pur pose.

63. It was in no sense commnplace to find children sleeping on the streets
and in other public areas. Azerbaijan did not have as nmuch of the probl em of
honel ess children as did countries which had suffered disasters and

revol utions. Most children lived with famlies and the Government was
conmitted to providing maxi num assi stance and material support for the
famlies. There were certain groups of society which traditionally involved
children in their trading activities, but the great majority of children in
Azerbaijan attended school under the system of free, compul sory education
Educati on was one of the institutions, established and devel oped over many
years during the Soviet period, that the present CGovernment was endeavouring
to strengthen and devel op. There was no reason to give up such a successfu
system purely on ideol ogi cal grounds.

64. The Governnent had adopted humanitarian principles on prostitution and
other related activities. While prostitution itself was not prohibited, the
procurenent of persons for prostitution was a puni shable offence. Severa



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 13

articles of the Crimnal Code were designed to conmbat the scourge of drug
addi ction and prevent the sale of narcotics, such as marijuana, heroin and
opi um

65. The State Conmittee on Refugee Affairs, at the mnisterial |evel, and
conmi ssions established by all executive authorities in the regions and
cities, dealt with issues related to refugees. Apart from humanitarian
assi stance, inproving the living conditions for refugees was one of the
Governnment' s nmj or concerns.

66. Adopt ed children had exactly the sane rights as other children and the
right of foreigners to adopt children in Azerbaijan was in practice quite
[imted.

67. Juvenile crinme was a product of the country's poor soci o-econom c

ci rcunmstances. A Conmi ssion on Juvenile Delinquency had been set up in each
region to liaise with | aw enforcenent agenci es and correspondi ng departnents
and mnistries, in an effort to renedy the situation

68. M. RAG MOV (Azerbaijan) said that social and econom c policies had an
i mpact on each other and, therefore could not be taken separately.

Par agraph 118 of the initial report acknow edged the serious predicanment of
the Azerbaijani population. In 1993 and 1994, 95.5 per cent had |lived bel ow
the poverty | evel as calculated on the basis of the mni mum consumer budget.
Nevert hel ess, the Governnent had enbarked on social and econonmic reforms to
ensure adequate social protection to offset the effects of econom c coll apse
and high inflation. The years 1993 and 1994 had been a particularly difficult
period, marked by rapidly spiralling inflation, and wages and pensi ons had
been increased only for days at a time. The econonic policy pursued by the
present Government sought to encourage stability at the macroeconom c |evel,
halt inflation and reverse the fall in production. Positive results, such as
real growmh in wages and inconmes, against a background of zero inflation, had
been achi eved thus far

69. The m ni mum consuner budget constituted an objective and was set at the
| evel of the average North American or European. It could not be used to
indicate living conditions in Azerbaijan, in view of the econom c situation
It should, in fact, be the survival mninmm which was the country's poverty
I evel, currently 130,000 to 150,000 nmanats per nonth. WAages and pensions
averaged 120,000 and 50, 000 respectively. |If those figures were used, it
woul d be seen that it was not really 95 per cent of the population that was
bel ow the poverty level. The situation was indeed difficult and there were
not enough resources to help the popul ation, but the Government did not want
to create a society of dependants. Social policy was designed for the

speci fic purpose of providing assistance to neediest and to vul nerabl e groups
who were not able to earn their own living.

70. Anot her of the Governnent's positive achi evenments was that no pensioners
were in debt. It was considered preferable to pay pensions, however nodest,
as pronptly as possible, rather than nmake prom ses the Governnent coul d not
afford to keep.



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 14

Article 11. The right to an adequate standard of living

71. M. RIEDEL said that the information provided in the report and the
written replies evoked conpassion and synpathy for the people of Azerbaijan
From paragraph 122 of the report it was apparent that |arge nunmbers of people
were bel ow the poverty line. Perhaps the del egation could explain the figure
of 7.4 mllion people living in poverty, in the light of reports that the
total popul ation was just under 7.5 mllion. Could it be true that alnpbst the
entire population was living in poverty? Had the trend since 1994 been
towards an i nprovenment or deterioration in the standard of |iving?

72. Wth reference to food expenditures, he would like to know who
constituted the “popul ati on groups”, cited in paragraph 125, for which the
cost of the food basket exceeded their incomes. There were no statistics on
the incidence of starvation and the Commttee would be grateful if the

del egati on woul d make sure that the requisite data were provided in future
reports.

73. Par agraphs 131 to 138 spoke of alarmng dietary deficiencies and

i ndicated that the situation was deteriorating. How did the Governnent intend
to bridge the $300 million gap needed for food inports in order to provide a
nutritionally bal anced food supply?

74. M. ANTANOVI CH poi nted out that a high and an adequate standard of
living were not the same thing. People in the Commonweal th of | ndependent
States (CIS) mght be able to live for a nonth on $70 to $100, but that did
not represent an adequate standard of living. He asked for clarification as
to whether an “adequate standard of living” in Azerbaijan was consistent with
a mddle-level standard of living, and what proportion of the population could
be regarded as |living at an “adequate” standard.

75. M. ADEKUOYE said that the right to adequate food entailed the neans to
provi de sufficient donestic production in quantity, quality and variety, and
sufficient resources to inport the necessary foodstuffs. He believed that
some of the problens were self-inflicted. In the case of Azerbaijan, there
were sonme privatized small-scale farnms, but they could not obtain agricultural
inputs or credit. Although the European Union had granted $16 nmillion for
credit to farmers, that sum had been frozen because of bureaucratic del ays and
di sagreenent with the Union on the nethod of disbursenent. |In addition, the
extension services system had col |l apsed to the point where farmers were unabl e
to get useful advice fromthe authorities. He invited the delegation to
coment on the prospects for agricultural devel opnent.

76. M. CEAUSU said the situation in Azerbaijan could be described as
dramatic. The transitional period in the republics of the forner Soviet Union
was plagued with econom ¢ and social problens, including w despread
destabilization. It was apparent that the Covernnent |acked the budgetary
resources to fund social programmes and reasonabl e pensions in spite of rich
natural resources and conpletely normal agricultural conditions. Ws there a
paral l el economy or black market operating in Azerbaijan, or did other
possibilities exist for persons to supplement their incone?



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 40
page 15

77. He woul d suggest that, with a 1995 trade bal ance reflecting the transfer
of $70 mllion abroad, the country was in fact producing an income, but the
probl em was one of the distribution of that incone. 1In his view, the weak
trade uni ons, which were dependent on the Governnment, did not dare to protect
the real interests of the workers effectively and it was inevitable in such

ci rcunst ances that wages and social benefits should be |ow. Moreover, the
delay in commencing the agrarian reform m ght explain why the country was in
such a serious state.

78. Was there a programme to fight corruption, tax evasi on and organi zed
crime? It was essential for econonmic reformand transformation to be
acconpani ed by effective nmeasures to address those issues. Oherw se, the
nati onal incone would be channell ed abroad and the Governnent woul d be

i rpotent to intervene.

79. M. PILLAY said statistics indicated that 50 per cent of the popul ation
were wi thout safe drinking water because of pollution. Ws there |egislation
on environnmental protection and, if so, why were the offending parties not
brought to justice?

80. In view of the critical housing shortage, conmpounded by the inflow of
refugees and di spl aced persons, he wondered whether the situation was not
exacerbated by the privatization of State-owned accommpdation. |In addition

there was no information on the forced evictions he was reasonably certain
woul d exi st in such housing crises. Was that issue being successfully
addr essed?

81. M. TEXIER said that a conparison of statistics illustrated the gravity
of the situation. By way of exanple, paragraph 122 of the report showed t hat
the average nonthly inconme of the popul ation was approxi mtely half the
mont hl y m ni mum subsi stence | evel per capita calculated by the Mnistry of the
Econony.

82. As to the housing question, was there a nedium or long-termplan to
tackl e the shortage and the failures to conply with building standards? He
could not but endorse M. Pillay's coment on forced evictions and asked how
probl ems between | andl ords and tenants were settled. Furthernmore, with
reference to M. Adekuoye's coments, what had become of the European Union
agricultural assistance to small farners? The report had appeal ed for

humani tari an international assistance, but he would point out that it was

i mportant for donors to be assured that such aid would be used properly.

The neeting rose at 1.00 p. m




